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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We have the

          3  technical unit here.  Can you help us out?

          4                 Welcome everyone to today's hearing

          5  of the Public Safety Committee, at which we will

          6  receive testimony on the use of surveillance cameras

          7  to combat crime and deter terrorism.  As well as a

          8  bill sponsored by Council Member Avella, who is here

          9  with us today, that requires certain shopping

         10  establishments to have large parking lots  --  to

         11  install security cameras in large parking lots.

         12                 I'm a proponent of the use of

         13  surveillance cameras. Which is no surprise, as I

         14  wrote the op ed piece recently in the papers, which

         15  supports this.  I believe they're necessary in the

         16  fight against crime, and the fight against

         17  terrorism.  First, cameras deter crime.  And second

         18  of all, if a crime has occurred, cameras assist

         19  police in identifying and apprehending the culprit.In

         20  London, which is one of the world's most extensive

         21  systems, electronic surveillance cameras assisted

         22  police in quickly identifying those responsible for

         23  this Summer's subway bombings.

         24                 Just here in the United States, just

         25  in New York City, just recently, cameras have been
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          2  extremely helpful in solving crimes.  Just in the

          3  last week, we found the thugs responsible for

          4  killing our NYU student, up in Harlem.  And prior to

          5  that, we found the people responsible for killing

          6  Officer Hernandez.  And in Florida, not too long

          7  ago, a little girl was abducted.  It was too late to

          8  prevent that abduction, but the cameras helped us

          9  find that abductor, so that other little children

         10  are now safe from this viscous predator, who I

         11  believe just received the death penalty recently.

         12  Again, because of cameras.

         13                 Most of these have been private

         14  cameras.  But there's no reason we should be forced

         15  to rely on whether or not some private company has

         16  installed a camera.  I believe the Police Department

         17  should be moving forward quickly on installing their

         18  own cameras.  And that's what we'll hear about

         19  today.

         20                 The New York City Housing Authority,

         21  several years ago, installed security cameras, in

         22  some of its housing developments.  And NYCHA

         23  indicated that these systems have reduced crime by

         24  17 percent in 2002, and continue to after that.  Due

         25  to that success, I've introduced a bill requiring
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          2  these cameras to be installed in additional housing

          3  developments.

          4                 In November of 2004, the Mayor signed

          5  a bill I sponsored requiring the Department of

          6  Education, in conjunction with the NYPD, to conduct

          7  a review of each school with regards to the needs of

          8  security cameras, and to begin its installation.

          9  I'd like to get an update on that, actually, today

         10  also.

         11                 I'm also aware of the limits of

         12  cameras, and the concerns raised by civil

         13  libertarians, and the potential abuse of these

         14  cameras.  Particularly, the abuse of tapes and the

         15  access to the tapes.  That's why the NYCLU will be

         16  testifying today also.

         17                 And as part of this hearing, we're

         18  going   --  as I said before  --  we're going to be

         19  discussing Council Member Avella's bill that will

         20  require certain large retail establishments to place

         21  security cameras in their parking lots.  And I'd

         22  like to actually give Council Member Avella a chance

         23  to discuss that bill right now.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you Mr.

         25  Chairman, and thank you for putting my legislation
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          2  on today's agenda.

          3                 I certainly agree with all the

          4  comments that you've made about the use of cameras.

          5  I happen to support their use as well.

          6                 Some time ago, when I was first

          7  elected, the Precinct Commander of the 109 Precinct,

          8  which is one of the precincts in my Council

          9  District, came to me and complained about a

         10  situation with respect to a number of crimes that

         11  were occurring, and car thefts in some of the large

         12  shopping centers in my district.  He had actually

         13  approached the owners of the property, to try and

         14  get them to assist the police in addressing the

         15  crimes. And he was literally blown off by the owners

         16  of these properties.               It was actually

         17  that, that prompted me to introduce this

         18  legislation.  Given the fact that these parking lots

         19  are large, sometimes dimly lit, and these stores

         20  stay open late, they are subject to crime,

         21  especially car theft.  And I think it's very

         22  appropriate for these owners to be responsible and

         23  install cameras, which would not only protect the

         24  public, but also provide evidence, if, God forbid,

         25  there is a crime that occurs in these parking lots.
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          2                 I think this would be a minimum

          3  expense on these owners, and I think it's very

          4  proper for them to do it, since the customers are

          5  frequenting their establishments.

          6                 So I'm appreciative that you put this

          7  on the calendar today.  I'm very interested to hear

          8  what the Police Department has to say about the

          9  legislation.  But I think it is something that would

         10  be an improvement, and help the City, and help the

         11  Police Department in fighting crime.  Thank you Mr.

         12  Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

         14  Council Member. We've also been joined by Council

         15  Member Oddo, Council Member Yassky, Council Member

         16  Dilan, and Council Member Gentile.  There happen to

         17  be two other big hearings going on at the moment,

         18  Land Use, across the street, and the joint hearing

         19  next door, of which I am also a part, so our Council

         20  Members will be coming back and forth throughout the

         21  morning.

         22                 We are joined today by Inspector

         23  Delayne Hurley, who is the Commanding Officer of the

         24  New York City Police Department's Technical

         25  Assistance Response Unit, or TARU, and he is joined
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          2  by Assistant Deputy Commissioner Thomas Doepfner, of

          3  the omnipresent Sue Petito. Thank you all for coming

          4  down today, and Inspector, the floor is yours.

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Thank you.

          6  Good morning Chairman Vallone and members of the

          7  Council.  I am Deputy Inspector Delayne Hurley,

          8  Commanding Officer of the New York City Police

          9  Department's Technical Assistance Response Unit.  I

         10  am joined today by Assistant Deputy Commissioner Tom

         11  Doepfner, Commanding Officer of the Department's

         12  Legal Bureau.  On behalf of Police Commissioner

         13  Raymond Kelly, I am pleased to be here today to

         14  discuss the use of surveillance cameras in fighting

         15  crime and preventing terrorism in New York City.

         16                 As part of our mission to enhance the

         17  quality of life in New York City, the Police

         18  Department continuously seeks to develop strategies

         19  which will reduce and deter crime.  All of our

         20  techniques and priorities are analyzed and adapted

         21  to current crime conditions on an ongoing basis.

         22  And we have had great success in making our public

         23  spaces safer, as evidenced by the nearly 75 percent

         24  decrease in major crime complaints from 1990 to

         25  2005.
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          2                 As technology has given us more

          3  effective tools, cameras have come to represent a

          4  vital component in many of the strategies the Police

          5  Department employs.  Both to fight conventional

          6  crime, and to address possible terrorist attack.  We

          7  would like to provide a brief overview of the many

          8  ways in which cameras help us protect the people who

          9  visit, live, and work in the City.

         10                 As Police Commissioner Kelly

         11  mentioned at the Police Department's budget hearing

         12  last month, the Department is currently in the

         13  process of establishing the Citywide system of

         14  closed circuit cameras.  The system will consist of

         15  505 cameras to be installed in two phases, in a

         16  total of 253 locations.  First in Brooklyn, and then

         17  in the remaining boroughs.  The locations have been

         18  selected primarily on the basis of combatting

         19  concentrated pockets of crime.  The cameras, each

         20  having the ability to pan, tilt, and zoom, known as

         21  PTZ cameras, will record an image from a fixed

         22  position, and will be housed in a protective

         23  covering with the letters NYPD emblazoned on it.

         24  The recorded image will be digitally stored,

         25  enabling investigators to access it at a future date
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          2  if necessary.  Camera locations will have signs

          3  posted nearby, clearly stating that the area is

          4  being monitored by the Police Department.

          5                 As the Police Commissioner also

          6  mentioned last month, we are currently developing a

          7  new counter terrorism initiative to further secure

          8  the City's Financial District and civic center.  A

          9  key element of this Lower Manhattan Security

         10  Initiative will include closed circuit cameras as a

         11  part of a comprehensive security plan.  Because the

         12  program is still under development, I will not be

         13  able to provide further detail about it at this

         14  time.

         15                 A highly successful use of cameras is

         16  found in the City's housing developments.  The NYPD

         17  Housing Bureau currently utilizes two types of

         18  security camera systems in public housing.

         19                 The first is the VIPER, or Video

         20  Interactive Patrol Enhanced Response system cameras.

         21    It's a joint initiative between the Housing Bureau

         22  and the New York City Housing Authority.

         23                 There are presently 15 VIPER units

         24  that monitor over 3,100 cameras in 15 housing

         25  developments throughout the City, three in each
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          2  geographical borough.  VIPER cameras are monitored

          3  by NYPD personnel at all times.  Indoor public areas

          4  are monitored with fixed cameras.  Outdoor areas are

          5  monitored with PTZ cameras.

          6                 The average reduction in crime for

          7  the developments with VIPER systems, when compared

          8  to the year before installation to the year after

          9  installation, is 36 percent.  From the program's

         10  inception in 1997 through the end of 2005, over

         11  4,300 arrests in or around developments with VIPER

         12  systems, resulted either from direct observation, or

         13  identification of offenders after review of the

         14  video tape, or arrests which otherwise may occurred,

         15  but were substantially strengthened by video

         16  footage.

         17                 The second camera system employed

         18  developments is NYCHA's small scale systems.  These

         19  systems are not development wide, and are primarily

         20  funded by elected officials.  Since March of 2004,

         21  NYCHA has installed a total of 26 small scale video

         22  systems in 13 developments.  The number of cameras

         23  and systems is currently increasing.  The systems

         24  are not monitored by NYPD personnel, however,

         25  appropriate Department investigative units review
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          2  the video if an incident occurs.

          3                 We also utilize closed circuit

          4  television cameras in the transit system.  The

          5  Transit Bureau has access to approximately 125 CCTV

          6  cameras, positioned throughout the subway system.

          7  They are available for downloading of images by the

          8  Department.  The Transit Bureau is currently working

          9  with the MTA to create a new CCTV system, intended

         10  to provide the Department with a state- of the- art,

         11  high quality images of the subway system.

         12                 On a smaller scale, the Department

         13  has installed CCTV units along Fordham Road in the

         14  Bronx, in Washington Square Park, and in various

         15  sensitive locations throughout Manhattan.

         16                 The Department has also instituted a

         17  program called "Operation Safe Store", begun in

         18  June, 2003, as a Citywide initiative to protect

         19  grocery stores from crime.  The program includes

         20  video and alarm systems installed and maintained at

         21  Department expense.  Of the original 10 stores in

         22  the program, nine remain active, with one store no

         23  longer in existence.  We are in the process of

         24  expanding that program and identifying candidate

         25  locations which have been the victims of multiple
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          2  armed robberies.

          3                 The Police Department is, and

          4  continues to be mindful of the public's concern

          5  regarding the use of cameras in public spaces by a

          6  law enforcement agency.  The Department's decision

          7  to use this technology was, of course, motivated by

          8  its potential to reduce crime, and now, of course,

          9  to address terrorism.  However, from the outset, we

         10  recognize the concerns of the community with respect

         11  to privacy.

         12                 The Constitution protects an

         13  individual's reasonable expectation of privacy.

         14  However, when an individual is in a public area,

         15  readily capable of being observed by bystanders,

         16  such an expectation is not reasonable.  Therefore,

         17  in order for the Police Department to implement a

         18  CCTV program, it was imperative that safeguards be

         19  in place to ensure that no individual's expectation

         20  of privacy in a private place, is compromised.  The

         21  Department programs have such safeguards.  For

         22  example, the majority of cameras are stationary,

         23  placed in a manner that will allow them to view only

         24  public areas.  Police officers operating moveable

         25  cameras and staffing CCTV monitoring stations are
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          2  highly trained and closely supervised with respect

          3  to their obligation to prevent the viewing or taping

          4  of areas in which a person would have a reasonable

          5  expectation of privacy, such as apartment windows or

          6  other private areas.

          7                 It should be noted that in all

          8  respects, the Police Department's procedures meet or

          9  exceed recommended guidelines for the use of CCTV

         10  for public safety and community policing, as

         11  developed by the Security Industry Association and

         12  the International Association of Chiefs of Police.

         13                 The successful use of cameras, and

         14  the overwhelming public support they have received,

         15  is a result of careful analysis of the optimum use

         16  of the technology available and its responsible

         17  implementation.  We will continue to use this tool

         18  as well as any other emerging technologies to help

         19  us carry out our mission to even more effectively in

         20  the future.

         21                 Thank you for the opportunity to be

         22  here today.  And I will be pleased to answer any of

         23  your questions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         25  Okay, some of our members need to move to other

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  committees, so I'm going to defer first to Council

          3  Member Avella.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you Mr.

          5  Chairman.  I actually have to go, as some of your

          6  Committee Members, to Land Use.  We need to take a

          7  vote.

          8                 Your testimony didn't mention any

          9  comments or reference to my bill.  I was curious.

         10  How does the Department feel about it?

         11                 MS. PETITO: Susan Petito, of the

         12  Police Department.  Councilman Avella, the Police

         13  Department likes the concept very much, but we can't

         14  take an official position on behalf of the City.

         15  There are a lot of other factors to consider.

         16                 There are also some ways that we

         17  would think of improving the bill.  For example,

         18  making any tapes available to law enforcement.  And

         19  also, requiring some minimum time in which the tapes

         20  need to be retained for availability.  But we very

         21  much like the concept of the bill.  But again, we

         22  can't really comment on it on behalf of the City,

         23  because there are other factors to take into

         24  account, such as the cost and the impact on

         25  business.

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 But, at the Police Department, we

          3  certainly support the use of cameras in this way.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Well, I'm

          5  obviously, I sort of want to work in the comments

          6  that you have.  And I think maybe your legislative

          7  office can work together with Committee staff and my

          8  staff, to come up with a better bill.  And I'm sure

          9   --  I'm certainly willing to discuss amendments.

         10                 The one thing I would say in terms of

         11  the expense. I mean, there was a reason we decided

         12  on the number of 200 parking spots.  So that it was

         13  the larger establishments, and not the smaller,

         14  small time businesses that might be hurt by the

         15  additional expense.  But that's something we can

         16  talk about.

         17                 But I'm glad to hear that you are in

         18  general support.

         19                 MS. PETITO: Yes, we're very receptive

         20  to working with you and the Mayor's Office.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Mr. Chair, I

         22  hope we can move ahead on this, because I think it

         23  is an opportunity to help the Police Department and

         24  improve safety in this City.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I also agree
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          2  with the Police Department, Council Member Avella.

          3  And I like the concept of the bill.  I'd like to

          4  discuss it with you more, actually.  And especially

          5  in light of the number of spaces involved.  I mean,

          6  some of us don't have areas where there are 200

          7  parking spaces, so maybe a smaller amount might be a

          8  better idea.  But then again, there is an expense

          9  involved.  So we'll be discussing that with you, and

         10  hopefully you'll be able to come back to the

         11  Committee.  Thank you.

         12                 Inspector, you mentioned that the

         13  City is establishing a Citywide system of closed

         14  circuit TVs.  The system will consist of 505

         15  cameras.  These 505 cameras, are they in addition to

         16  the Ring of Steel which is being planned?  Or

         17  separate?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes, that's

         19  in addition to that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's in

         21  addition.  Okay.  And you say they're going to be

         22  installed in two phases.  In a total of 253

         23  locations.  First in Brooklyn, and then in the

         24  remaining boroughs.  And how did we determine that

         25  they would first go to Brooklyn and then in the
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          2  remaining boroughs?  And what stage of the

          3  installation are we at?

          4                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's still

          5  in a pilot phase right now.  Why Brooklyn was chosen

          6  first is just for that, a pilot to make sure the

          7  technology actually works.  We're trying some things

          8  we hadn't tried before.  And we're right now in the

          9  middle of that pilot phase.  We anticipate being

         10  done shortly with that. And once we have the proof

         11  of concept, we're going to roll this out to the rest

         12  of the remaining boroughs.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So you said that

         14  the cameras are clearly monitored  --  clearly

         15  designated as Police cameras right now?

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So I would

         18  assume that it wouldn't violate any secrecy to

         19  divulge where they are.  Can you discuss what

         20  locations they're in?

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Off the top

         22  of my head, I don't know where they all are, but

         23  there's 253 locations.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: There are

         25  already 253 locations?
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: No.  Not

          3  yet.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm just

          5  wondering where they exist right now.

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I believe

          7  some are within the confines of the 83 Precinct.

          8  Once again, I didn't bring the list along with me.

          9  I believe in our 83rd Precinct, we actually have

         10  some cameras up and running.  I know we're

         11  installing day to day.  I really don't know which

         12  commands we've gotten to at this point.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How long has

         14  this pilot program been in existence?

         15                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: A couple of

         16  weeks.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: A couple of

         18  weeks.  That new. A couple of weeks.

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And you said you

         21  wanted to try some new things.  What things are

         22  being tested?  And when do we expect them to expand

         23  past the pilot program?

         24                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: What we're

         25  trying differently, this is from our previous
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          2  experience, we came up with a large expense by

          3  having things that were wired cameras.  We're

          4  actually trying wireless cameras.  And being that

          5  the City is a very rich environment for radio

          6  frequency, RF frequencies, we want to make sure this

          7  actually is going to work before we roll it out.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What type

          9  locations  --  you mention here that you determined

         10  the location based primarily on a pocket of crime.

         11  Are there any other criteria that you use?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes, there

         13  was some other criteria.  It's some of our counter

         14  terrorism officials also had input on some of the

         15  locations.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's only been

         17  in existence a few weeks.  How long do you foresee

         18  the pilot plan going on before you expand it out to

         19  other locations?

         20                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Probably a

         21  matter of a few more weeks.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  What type

         23  of locations are these cameras placed on?  Private

         24  buildings, public buildings. Where do they fit?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Those are
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          2  primarily on street poles.  And they're primarily in

          3  commercial districts.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So City- owned

          5  street poles, so there's no rent, there's no private

          6  land owners involved in this at this point?

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: At this

          8  point, there are no other ones than the City.  But

          9  however, some of the areas have wooden poles which

         10  are owned by Con Ed and Verizon.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Now,

         12  let's since we're sticking with this system, now you

         13  intend to have 505 cameras  -- how did you come up

         14  with 505, by the way?  How did that number come up?

         15                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: We had to

         16  stop somewhere. And the budget was certainly an

         17  issue at some point.  But that's what we were able

         18  to reasonably accommodate at that time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Who is paying

         20  for these cameras?

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I believe,

         22  and I'm not absolutely sure, because I'm not the

         23  budget guy, but I think it was actually from a

         24  federal grant.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well then, that
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          2  is actually something we would like to find out

          3  about.  Find out how much of this money is paid for

          4  by a federal grant.  Where exactly that grant comes

          5  from.  Is it Homeland Security?  Is it Urban

          6  Initiative?

          7                 Ms. Petito, will you be able to get

          8  that information to us?

          9                 MS. PETITO: I will.  I believe it is

         10  a Homeland Security grant funding, but we'll confirm

         11  that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And whether or

         13  not that's funding the entire 505 cameras  --

         14                 MS. PETITO: I believe it is.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That would

         16  probably be  --  the amount of funding would

         17  probably why you wound up with 505 cameras. But I'm

         18  sure you're going to be getting that to us.

         19                 The cameras themselves.  I know you

         20  have some cameras in place in other areas.  These

         21  cameras, these 505, we'll stick with that.  How do

         22  you intend to monitor these cameras?  I don't think

         23  you'll  --  do you intend to have live monitoring?

         24  Do you intend to just watch the tapes if a problem

         25  has occurred?  How long are the tapes going to be in
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          2  existence?  Give us the parameters that you'll be

          3  used  --  that will be used with these cameras.

          4                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: The cameras

          5  are not designed to be live monitored all the time.

          6  They can be, if there is some reason to do so.  They

          7  will be stored for approximately 30 days on a DVR,

          8  digital video recorder.  And at that time, they'll

          9  be written over.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Will anyone be

         11  examining the films of these cameras that these

         12  cameras take on a regular basis? Or will they only

         13  be looked at if an incident occurs?  What are your

         14  plans?

         15                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I believe at

         16  this point, they're only going to be viewed if an

         17  actual incident occurs.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Because

         19  obviously, I'm anticipating some arguments, and some

         20  valid.  I guess it may be used in opposition to

         21  these cameras.  And I've read where people state

         22  that should you going to be compiling dossiers on

         23  business people and learning the whereabouts and the

         24  comings and goings of average citizens with these

         25  cameras.  But right now, you're telling us that you
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          2  don't even plan to review the films on these cameras

          3  unless there's a reason to do so.  Is that correct?

          4                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: That's

          5  correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, let me  --

          7    I have a lot of other questions.  But let me first

          8  go to Council Member Gentile. And we've also been

          9  joined by Council Member Addabbo.  The first baseman

         10  of the New York Mets.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you Mr.

         12  Chairman. Inspector Hurley, I'm just curious.  Does

         13  TARU have ultimate jurisdiction over all of these

         14  different types of cameras and closed circuit TVs?

         15  I know you talked about the Housing Authority, and

         16  elected officials putting certain cameras in, and

         17  NYCHA having other cameras.  And then, the new

         18  developments that you're talking about.  Does that

         19  all come under the jurisdiction of TARU?

         20                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: No.  We are

         21  involved in some, but not others.  The small scale

         22  video system work we haven't been involved in.  The

         23  transit system, we haven't been involved in.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Is that to

         25  change at some point?
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Not that I'm

          3  aware of.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So who does

          5  their technical assistance?  For those that are not

          6  under your jurisdiction?

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I believe

          8  NYCHA contracts out for their own routine

          9  maintenance and for repair.  And the MTA, I believe,

         10  actually is the parent agency for the transit

         11  facilities.  It actually monitors and takes care of

         12  their own systems.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So the Police

         14  Department, though, patrols the housing

         15  developments.  But yet, the Police Department

         16  doesn't have control over the cameras in the NYCHA

         17  units?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: That's

         19  partially true.  The VIPER systems, yes.  We  --

         20  and actually TARU assisted the installation of those

         21  cameras.  We do routinely maintain those. However,

         22  the small scale systems, it was started as an

         23  initiative from NYCHA itself.  And they've taken the

         24  lead for that.  Although they do make those

         25  available to us if there's a need for us to have
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          2  investigative interest in one of those types of  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And to your

          4  knowledge, do they have different rules as to

          5  monitoring, as to storage, as to maintaining I

          6  guess, their tapes?  Are they tapes?

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: The small

          8  scale systems, I believe, are tapes.  They have no

          9  monitoring for them.  They're actually just

         10  recorded.  They're written over if there are no

         11  events.  It's actually a much smaller scale from the

         12  VIPOR, hence the name.  There is no system for

         13  viewing that nor any for monitoring it.  And I

         14  believe they hold on to the tapes similar timeframe

         15  as ours.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: A 30- day

         17  period?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: They're

         19  similar.  I'm not sure that it's exactly that, but

         20  yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And do you,

         22  at some point, envision the VIPOR units being the

         23  sole monitoring devices for the Housing Authority

         24  units?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's hard to

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  say.  I really don't know.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So there's no

          4  long- term plan to replace some of these hodge-

          5  podge other smaller units in housing.

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Not at this

          7  time.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Now, do you

          9  have VIPOR units at the same locations that you have

         10  these other smaller monitoring devices?

         11                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: No.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: You also

         13  mentioned the 505 cameras, and then went on to talk

         14  about the Lower Manhattan Security Initiative as

         15  another closed circuit initiative.  Are those two

         16  different CCTV programs that you're now putting

         17  together?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I believe

         19  the Lower Manhattan Security Initiative is actually

         20  something that's just in its infancy right now, and

         21  that's absolutely separate from what we're doing

         22  with this other system.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And even

         24  though it's in its infancy, how do you envision it

         25  being different than the rest of the 253 locations
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          2  throughout the five boroughs.

          3                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Well, there

          4  is no overlap, actually.  If the system is

          5  implemented for Lower Manhattan Security Initiative,

          6  it won't be redundant with any of our other systems.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: But it's

          8  going to be closed circuit TV, as the  --  do you

          9  have a name for the other initiative?  There isn't a

         10  name for it.  I figured as the Lower Manhattan

         11  Security Initiative has one  --  the five borough

         12  initiative.

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Oh, I'm

         14  sorry.  I don't know that we've come up with an

         15  official acronym.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Okay.

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I don't

         18  think we have an official name at this point.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Think of one

         20  and get back to us.

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Okay.  Thank

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: They do have the

         24  best acronyms, though.  They can hardly come up with

         25  them, but when they do  -- HERCULES, ATLAS, VIPOR.
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          2  They are pretty good.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Yes,

          4  Operation Impact.

          5                 I guess, is there a different

          6  initiative or a different overall plan for the five

          7  borough closed circuit TV program, as opposed to the

          8  Lower Manhattan program?

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes.  I

         10  believe the Lower Manhattan is more geared towards

         11  strengthening an area for its overall security.

         12  Whereas, the street cameras are to deter, obviously,

         13  the street- level crime.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Right.  And

         15  therefore, that entails different type of

         16  monitoring?  Or different type of equipment?  I'm

         17  not clear about that.

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes.  Like I

         19  said, the Lower Manhattan Security is still really

         20  still on the drawing board right now.  I believe it

         21  will be somewhat different in its scope and the way

         22  it will take form.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And at some

         24  point, will those 253 locations be known publicly?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Oh yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: They will be.

          3                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Because as

          5  you said, they would be marked, as you indicated.

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I see.  Mr.

          8  Chairman, I think I'm done at the moment.  So I'll

          9  turn it back to you.  Thank you, Inspector, thank

         10  you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: With regard to

         12  the transit cameras you testified about.  You said

         13  you utilized close circuit TV in the transit system.

         14    Currently, the Transit Bureau has access to 125

         15  closed circuit TV cameras.  Who monitors those

         16  cameras?

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I'm not

         18  sure.  I don't believe an NYPD personnel monitors

         19  them.  We just have access to those feeds.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So those cameras

         21  are put up by the MTA?

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I believe

         23  so.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, I mean,

         25  you believe so. You're the head of our TARU unit.
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: We haven't

          3  had a role in the development of that system, or of

          4  anything, as of this point. We're now just beginning

          5  to speak with the MTA and their contractor, which I

          6  believe is Lockheed Martin, that's going to be doing

          7  a whole large initiative.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The MTA has not

          9  consulted the Police Department, which is

         10  responsible for the safety of our subway systems,

         11  regarding the placement of subway cameras?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Not entirely

         13  accurate.  We have spoke with them, but we're

         14  starting to get into in- depth concerns and what our

         15  recommendations are for their systems.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: There are 125

         17  cameras now.  Did you have anything to do with their

         18  placement?

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: My office

         20  didn't.  No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think we find

         22  out, on a daily basis, the MTA is completely failing

         23  in their duty to protect New York City residents.

         24  So they have not consulted you on those 125. Do you

         25  know if they are planning right now to expand that
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          2  amount of cameras?

          3                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I believe

          4  there is definitely a plan to put a lot more cameras

          5  in.  And I believe they have consulted other kind of

          6  terrorism officials of our Department regarding the

          7  placement of those cameras.  And see, my office

          8  particularly, wasn't made an issue, because we

          9  weren't going to be doing the actual installation.

         10  We're not really the  --  we're the technical

         11  aspect, but actually installing and maintaining and

         12  along those lines, the proactive as to where they

         13  should be, alongst (sic) other units within our

         14  Department.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, can you

         16  get that information to us, then, as to whether or

         17  not the MTA has consulted with any member of the

         18  Police Department regarding the installation of

         19  security cameras?

         20                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Certainly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  You

         22  mentioned a few times safeguards that are in place.

         23  In Washington D.C., I understand the City actually

         24  passed some laws regarding safeguards. What type of

         25  safeguards are in place to ensure that these cameras
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          2  are not abused in any way?  And what type of

          3  punishment, I guess, would be in place for a

          4  violation of these rules?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: We have

          6  written procedures for the use of the cameras by the

          7  officers within our Department guidelines.  They're

          8  closely supervised, and a supervisor is assigned to

          9  each one of these VIPOR units.  And the ones that

         10  are actually actively monitored.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How many VIPOR

         12  units are there?

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: There's 15

         14  units.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And they consist

         16  of how many officers in total?

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's not my

         18  department, once again.  It's part of the Housing

         19  Bureau.  But I think routinely, on average, you

         20  probably have about three supervisors, three

         21  sergeants or lieutenants, and perhaps maybe a dozen

         22  officers to handle all the platoons.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Three

         24  supervisors and a dozen officers for each VIPOR

         25  unit?
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And how many

          4  VIPOR units would there be?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Fifteen.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And what sort of

          7  rules are in place?

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: They have

          9  written procedures and to what they're supposed to

         10  do as far as the patrolling, what they're prohibited

         11  from doing.  Things along those lines.  Obviously,

         12  it's hard to say exactly what would happen if

         13  someone violated those rules.  Each one would be

         14  taken on a case by- case basis, but discipline is

         15  certainly part of the equation.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well this

         17  concerns the VIPOR units.  What about all the other

         18  cameras that you've got installed? Who monitors

         19  those?  And what rules are in place regarding those?

         20                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Those would

         21  fall under similar guidelines that a supervisor

         22  would be present during the active monitoring.

         23  Generally, those ones are only done during large-

         24  scale events, at which time they would be done in

         25  the overall supervision of generally a much higher
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          2  supervisor than a sergeant or lieutenant.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think we're

          4  all aware of an incident where someone's suicide

          5  wound up on the Internet.  For example.  Now what

          6  type of investigation was done there?  What was

          7  found out?  What actions were taken as a result?

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I'm sorry.

          9  That would be and internal investigation I'm not

         10  privy to.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well let's not

         12  specifically talk about that incident.  Let's talk

         13  about an instance in general. If there was a

         14  situation where there was an abuse of this process,

         15  what would happen?

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Once it came

         17  to the Department's attention, an investigative unit

         18  would be assigned. And they would thoroughly

         19  investigate it.  And if there was any misconduct

         20  found, appropriate discipline would be imposed.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And who would

         22  have that information regarding the incident on the

         23  Internet?  Do you know who we could get that

         24  information from?

         25                 MS. PETITO: We'll follow up.  I'm not
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          2  sure what was the specific investigative entity that

          3  investigated that case.  So we'll get back to you on

          4  that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  The

          6  guidelines that exist.  Do you have a copy that

          7  you'd be able to provide us with?

          8                 MS. PETITO: Yes, I believe so.  I

          9  don't have it here, but we'll get it to you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  And

         11  rather than just saying "guidelines", can you go

         12  through specifically, what some of these guidelines

         13  are?

         14                 For example, how long are the tapes

         15  held for?  Who has access to the tapes?  Are they

         16  reviewed on a regular basis? Things of that nature.

         17                 And what type of training, for

         18  instance, for the VIPOR units is there anyone else

         19  involved in these cameras receive?

         20                 MS. PETITO: We'll have to refer

         21  specifically to the guidelines.  They are written

         22  guidelines.  I don't know them intimately.  But

         23  we'll get you a copy of them.  I believe that there

         24  is required supervision present at every VIPOR unit,

         25  and as the Inspector said, it's a very close ratio
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          2  of supervision to police officer.  That they're in a

          3  secured location within the housing development.

          4  That the tapes are logged and recorded.  I believe

          5  that they are taped seven times, and then destroyed.

          6  Because the tape,  --  if it's a tape system, the

          7  tape is no longer viable.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Is there a

          9  certain amount of time each tape is held for?

         10                 MS. PETITO: I believe it's seven

         11  days.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You mention in

         13  the testimony somewhere that your units are

         14  specially trained.  What type of training is

         15  involved?

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: That's

         17  specific to each unit, but the video training would

         18  be done by the Housing Bureau. Once again, I'm not

         19  assigned there, I don't know specifically what the

         20  specific training is.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What does your

         22  bureau actually do?

         23                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: We're the

         24  ones that either install the cameras, maintain them,

         25  try to stay on the edge of the new technologies, try
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          2  to incorporate them in.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: All right.

          4  Please get us that information then, because as I

          5  said, there are other jurisdictions who pass laws

          6  regarding this, and that was supposed to be part of

          7  this hearing, to discuss what actually is involved,

          8  what rules are in place, and we're not going to be

          9  able to get to that.

         10                 You mentioned Operation Safe Store.

         11  Who funds that?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I was an

         13  initiative funded by the Department.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  And there

         15  are originally ten stores, only nine remain active.

         16  When do you intend to expand that initiative?

         17                 MS. PETITO: It's very soon.  Probably

         18  within the next month or so.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And what type of

         20  expansion is envisioned?

         21                 MS. PETITO: It will be additional

         22  stores participating.  And I believe the original

         23  nine, and then an additional number of stores.  I

         24  don't know if the final number has been decided yet.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Are you going to
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          2  go to nine to ten?  Are you going to go to nine to

          3  500?  Can you give me some idea, please of what type

          4  of expansion.  We don't have much information coming

          5  out here, and I'm not happy about this.  I'm not

          6  happy about the fact that you're not able to speak

          7  about the Ring of Steel, because that's one of the

          8  reasons we had this hearing. I'm not happy about the

          9  fact that every third answer is, "We have to get

         10  back to you".  What type of expansion is planned for

         11  Operation Safe Stores?

         12                 MS. PETITO: Probably about 20.  An

         13  additional 20. In addition to the nine that are in

         14  place.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And when is that

         16  going to happen?

         17                 MS. PETITO: I believe within about a

         18  month.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And how are

         20  those stores being chosen?

         21                 MS. PETITO: Based on, basically on

         22  armed robberies. That's the major criteria I

         23  believe.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You said 505

         25  cameras are going to be installed.  Approximately

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  how many cameras exist now in New York City?

          3                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I'm not

          4  sure.  You mean NYPD?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: NYPD.  Let's

          6  start with NYPD, yes.

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's hard to

          8  give you an exact number, but a couple dozen.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Couple dozen

         10  total cameras? NYPD cameras in the entire City of

         11  New York?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Unless

         13  you're talking about the VIPOR units and all these

         14  other initiatives.  I'm just talking about just

         15  actually having sensitive locations, somewhere in

         16  that neighborhood.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, how many

         18  VIPOR units exist?

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Fifteen.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Fifteen.  And

         21  then the Operation Safe Store has another nine.  You

         22  mentioned in your testimony that you've installed

         23  some cameras in Washington Square Park, in Fordham

         24  Road, and some of those locations.  Other than those

         25  three initiatives I just spoke about, what other
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          2  initiatives are out there where cameras are

          3  involved?

          4                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Currently,

          5  there are no other initiatives.  I said they're

          6  still left over from previous initiatives.  There's

          7  probably a couple of dozen still left out there.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So the total is

          9   --  well, a couple of dozen is 24.  So we're going

         10  to very soon, I guess, go from 24 to over 505?

         11                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: For that

         12  particular initiative, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Are there any

         14  other initiatives that you are envisioning right

         15  now?

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: As I said

         17  before, the Lower Manhattan Security Initiative is

         18  certainly on the horizon.  But as far as I know,

         19  that's the only other initiatives that are on the

         20  table right now.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well that Lower

         22  Manhattan initiative, I know that you're not able to

         23  go into specifics.  When do you envision the

         24  planning stage being finished and the implementation

         25  beginning?

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's hard to

          3  say, but I would say relatively soon.  They are

          4  trying to move on it extremely quickly.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  And have

          6  you been to London at all, to investigate that

          7  system there?

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes.  I was

          9  there.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You were

         11  personally there?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes. I was

         13  personally there.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And what type of

         15  cameras are envisioned?  The same type that we're

         16  using now, VIPOR cameras?  Or a different type of

         17  cameras?  Is there different technology that would

         18  be used for that Ring of Steel?

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: No, I

         20  believe the cameras themselves will be similar to

         21  the ones we're currently using in other

         22  applications.  The cameras  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The ones that

         24  you're doing the pilot program on in Brooklyn?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes.  The
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          2  cameras themselves, pretty much are interchangeable

          3  in that respect.  It depends upon how close you want

          4  to be to something.  If you're far away, obviously,

          5  you want a longer range camera.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In addition to

          7  the cameras, what other sorts of technology are you

          8  investigating for possible use in this program?

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: They're

         10  looking at some of the software applications.  Once

         11  again, I don't know exactly which ones they're going

         12  to incorporate in.  Whether it be license plate

         13  recognition, or face recognition, or something along

         14  those lines. I don't know what is actually viable to

         15  put into the initiative.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Are those done

         17  through the cameras?  Or through something else?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It depends

         19  on which system you'd go with.  They're all

         20  different, to be quite honest.  There is no one

         21  standard.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So if you

         23  wanted, for example, tell us what exists in London.

         24  Do they do license plate recognition in London?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes, they
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          2  do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And how is that

          4  done?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's done

          6  with a camera. There are points that actually   --

          7  traffic calming devices, I believe.  And this

          8  traffic calming device is, for lack of a better

          9  word, like zig- zag a little bit to make the cars

         10  slow down a little bit.  And there is a camera that

         11  has software application built right into it that

         12  reads the plate, and then is able to determine if

         13  that matches a criteria against some set database.

         14                 However, they have the advantage of

         15  having a national license plate with the one

         16  standard.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What does that

         18  mean exactly? A national license plate that  --

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: The license

         20  plate is the same throughout all of the UK.  There

         21  are, as you might well know, we have maybe three or

         22  four dozen in New York State alone, different

         23  variations on the license plate.  So the software is

         24  impinging upon the ability to recognize not only in

         25  the States here, the plate, but also the state it's

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  issued, because that plate might be a concern for

          3  New York plate, but if it's a New Jersey plate, it's

          4  not.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Do they

          6  have facial recognition in London?

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Not in

          8  public areas.  They actually have them for access

          9  control.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What does that

         11  mean?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: If you

         13  wanted to enter a building, it's mostly private

         14  security.  It's not done with the public sector, but

         15  if you want to enter a building, you submit to a

         16  camera that actually takes measurements of your face

         17  and determines whether or not you are, in fact, the

         18  person that's allowed access to.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So other than

         20  license plate recognition, what else exists in

         21  London that might be feasible here?

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: They utilize

         23  the same technologies we're using.  They just have a

         24  tremendous amount of cameras.  Whereas the small

         25  area, like the city of London, which is actually one
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          2  square mile area, has thousands of public cameras,

          3  pretty much on every corner.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And we have

          5  dozens at this point.  I'm glad we're attempting to

          6  catch up.

          7                 So it's just  --  in London, it's

          8  cameras, and license plate recognition.  Is there

          9  anything else that they're doing there?  I've read

         10  that they've done some sort of research on access,

         11  some sort of to the location  --

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: They charge,

         13  when you go through those traffic calming devices,

         14  there's actually a fee imposed to the registered

         15  owner of the vehicle, that has to be paid within 24

         16  hours to mitigate traffic and congestion.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So that  --  is

         18  that function entirely to mitigate traffic and

         19  congestion?  Or is there also a security component

         20  to that?

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: The toll

         22  part, I think, is just to mitigate the traffic

         23  congestion.  The security is actually the license

         24  plate recognition.  Trying to determine if this

         25  vehicle in fact, is something that they're concerned
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          2  about, whether it be stolen on some other database

          3  that they're concerned about.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So in order to

          5  do license plate recognition do you have to control

          6  the flow of traffic in that manner?

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I believe

          8  when it was originally constructed for them, yes,

          9  they did.  Because it was lower speeds.  However, I

         10  think they are now realizing they have a little

         11  better software that doesn't have to be quite as

         12  slow.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So if we were

         14  going to initiate license plate recognition here in

         15  New York City, would we be able to do it under

         16  present traffic conditions?  Or would they have to

         17  be changed in some way?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's hard to

         19  say, because there are so many different

         20  manufacturers that are claiming different things.  I

         21  mean, I haven't really seen all of them prove

         22  exactly what they've claimed.  There are

         23  manufacturers who claim they can do it a real time

         24  high speed.  But I haven't seen that actually take

         25  place yet.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And is that

          3  something that you are examining the possibility of

          4  using here in New York City?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: The

          6  Department certainly is.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: All right.  Let

          8  me move to Council Member Addabbo for a few

          9  questions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you Mr.

         11  Chair.

         12                 Thank you very much for your time and

         13  testimony today.  Just to expand a little bit on

         14  this.  You mention now London.  Previously in your

         15  testimony, you mentioned the Housing Bureau.  Are

         16  there other jurisdictions, other areas other than

         17  London, possibly, that you use as a model, or

         18  investigate how they were doing their procedure

         19  regarding camera surveillance?

         20                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: We looked at

         21  some systems in Chicago and in Baltimore.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: What

         23  particularly were you looking for in Chicago and

         24  Baltimore?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Similar to

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  the system that we're going to do for the 505

          3  cameras.  Outdoor publicly mounted cameras.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Would you say

          5  that our system to be incorporated here would be

          6  similar to that of Chicago and Baltimore?  Or are

          7  you making changes based on something you saw there

          8  that would not fit in New York City?

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I think we

         10  learned from their mistakes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: What

         12  mistakes?

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: They

         14  actually had cameras up that were just up on a pole,

         15  that recorded, didn't go anywhere else, and would

         16  only be accessed once there was an event, and they

         17  found with no way to be able to tell if the camera

         18  is working.  It was failed more times than not.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Interesting.

         20  How many cameras  --  do you know how many cameras

         21  Chicago and Baltimore would have?

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It would

         23  have to be a guess.  But I'd say under a hundred

         24  each.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: As you move
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          2  into this era of more and more camera surveillance,

          3  and I think we're seeing it here, that obviously,

          4  this is a start or to extent, an extension of what

          5  is already being done, and over time, you may see an

          6  increase in cameras.  Do you see that in the

          7  foreseeable future, possibly, as we increase the

          8  number of cameras, increasing the possibility of a

          9  right to privacy issue?  And I know you've mentioned

         10  it in your testimony, but I can just see that as we

         11  go and increase the amount of cameras, we're going

         12  to come to a point where we are limiting the public

         13  space that we're monitoring, and possibly crossing

         14  over into what could be maybe a private area.  Do

         15  you foresee that possibly being an issue in the

         16  future?

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: No,

         18  actually, I don't envision that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: What other

         20  legal issues have you incorporated into this plan.

         21  Obviously, a right to privacy is one issue.  What

         22  other legal issues do you see possibly being

         23  addressed by the Police Department with regards to

         24  camera surveillance?

         25                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  DOEPFNER: Since all the cameras are in public

          3  places, monitoring public activities, we don't see a

          4  constitutional issue in terms of the actual taping

          5  of the events.  And we also have retention policies

          6  that only allow us to retain them in the event

          7  they're actually useful.  They're not being used for

          8  any other investigations or to create dossiers as

          9  some people have suggested.  But other than those

         10  two legal issues, I don't really see any others.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: So the legal

         12  issues are kind of limited for the most part.

         13                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  DOEPFNER: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.  Again,

         16  my only concern is  --  and I know we live in a

         17  different time  --  but my only concern is, as we

         18  increase the number of cameras, we are going to run

         19  out of possibly the public spaces that we are

         20  monitoring. And again, the increase and possibility

         21  of that right to privacy issue incurs.

         22                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  DOEPFNER: Well, the cameras currently, and those are

         24  the plans for the future, are all in public places.

         25  And as we've discussed already, there are guidelines
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          2  to prevent them from being used for unauthorized

          3  monitoring in private places.  And those guidelines

          4  will remain in place and again, they will just

          5  remain in public areas, and nowhere else.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Again, thank

          7  you for your time.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We've read about

          9  something called "Smart Cameras".  I'm sure you know

         10  what they are.  But from what I've read, they're a

         11  camera that would identify some sort of behavior

         12  which is out of the norm, and perhaps alert you to

         13  that. Can you explain what those are?  And do we use

         14  them now?  Do we intend to use them in the future?

         15                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Generally,

         16  what they are is a regular camera that has some type

         17  of software application behind the camera that will

         18  interpret whatever movement that it sees in front of

         19  the camera in one way or another.  It's only as good

         20  as the software writer that actually developed the

         21  code for behind the camera.  It can sometimes be

         22  utilized for different applications such as a left

         23  object, depending on what type of scene you're

         24  looking at  --  I know the transit authority is

         25  concerned about packages and stuff left behind.  So
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          2  that type of application would make sense for them.

          3  Other ones, DOT might be interested in that type of

          4  technology, say for bridges, for stopped vehicles.

          5  For reasons, obviously, for traffic flow as

          6  potentially other more serious problems.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Does the DOT

          8  have separate cameras which are involved in

          9  security?  Outside the NYPD?

         10            DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes.  DOT

         11  maintains traffic cams.  Some of them are actually

         12  on the City's website.  Nyc.gove actually has the

         13  link to their traffic cams.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The traffic cams

         15  are the ones that are  -- are those the ones that

         16  will determine if someone goes through a red light?

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: No,no.

         18  That's the  --  the red lights cameras are a

         19  separate  --  these are the ones just on the sides

         20  of the highway.  You usually see them up pretty

         21  high. They're just monitoring traffic flow or

         22  showing the overall conditions of traffic.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So they're not

         24  monitoring for security purposes.

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You mentioned

          3  again, a couple dozen cameras exist now in New York

          4  City.  NYPD cameras. Obviously, I'm going to want

          5  that amount to  --  down the road, Ms. PETITO, I'd

          6  like you to get that information to us.  But for

          7  specific instances, for example, a large

          8  demonstration for maybe what happened yesterday, the

          9  Republican National Convention, or something like

         10  that.  What type of video taping is undertaken by

         11  the Police Department?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Each one is

         13  unique.  We actually have what we consider still

         14  hand- shoot teams, under the old hand- shoot

         15  guidelines, of people that are requested to go to

         16  large scale events and be available for

         17  documentation, if necessary.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: For those who

         19  aren't familiar, what are the hand- shoot

         20  guidelines?  And again, for a situation like

         21  yesterday, let's say, what type of video tape

         22  surveillance would be undertaken by the Police

         23  Department?

         24                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  DOEPFNER: The hand shoot guidelines are part of a
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          2  court- ordered stipulation which monitor the Police

          3  Department's ability to investigate political

          4  activity.  So to some extent, video taping a

          5  demonstration might be considered to be included

          6  within the guidelines.  The older guidelines had

          7  much stricter restrictions on that type of activity.

          8  They've been somewhat relaxed under the new court-

          9  approved guidelines.

         10                 But in general, officers from

         11  Inspector DeLayne's unit will be at demonstrations

         12  with video cameras, hand- held video cameras to be

         13  available in the event something occurs, and needs

         14  to be taped, such as a criminal act or some other

         15  type of unlawful activity.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And you said the

         17  guidelines are relaxed.  What are they presently?

         18                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         19  DOEPFNER: The guidelines allow police officers to

         20  attend any event, basically on the same terms as the

         21  general public can.  Previously, our own internal

         22  guidelines restricted the use of video cameras to

         23  specific incidents of criminal activity.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And how many  --

         25    you said there are hand- held cameras out there

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  with members of your unit. Are there fixed cameras

          3  which are stationed in surrounding areas during one

          4  of these types of situations?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It depends

          6  upon the venue. It depends upon the venue.  We have

          7  ones, like I said, that were in sensitive locations

          8  throughout Manhattan.  If one happens to actually

          9  occur there, then we would, but nothing specifically

         10  set up for something like that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, the New

         12  York Law Journal, on Monday, said that Ray Kelly

         13  announced that there would be a new panel of legal

         14  experts to review the Police Department policies

         15  regarding surveillance at protests.  Are you

         16  participating in that panel?  Are you aware of that

         17  panel?

         18                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         19  DOEPFNER: Inspector Hurley is not participating in

         20  that panel.  The panel is a group of attorneys who

         21  may serve simply as an advisory group on certain

         22  issues, but it's really  --  not much has been done

         23  with them as yet.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Not much has

         25  been done with what?
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          2                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  DOEPFNER: The group has not really done much of

          4  anything as yet.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And why has this

          6  panel been created?

          7                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          8  DOEPFNER: The Police Commissioner wanted to have

          9  essentially an outside advisory group just as kind

         10  of a sounding board on various issues.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let's move for a

         12  moment to cameras in our schools.  What is your

         13  involvement in the cameras placed in public schools?

         14                 MS. PETITO: Inspector Hurley is not

         15  involved in the cameras in schools.  That's

         16  completely DOE initiative.  But of course, they

         17  confer with us regularly.  And in terms of the

         18  legislation that required us to assess each school,

         19  your bill, that is going forward, that the DOE and

         20  the School Safety Division are meeting regularly and

         21  will have that information that Liz created by the

         22  end of the year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's good.

         24  You anticipated my question.  Thank you.  I would

         25  hope you are on schedule with that.  It's very
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          2  important to the Council.

          3                 One moment please.  Council Member

          4  Gentile:

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you.

          6  Thank you Mr. Chairman.  I'm just looking at some of

          7  the notes here that we've been given.  It indicates

          8  to us here that New York City Housing Authority's

          9  annual plan for Fiscal Year 2005 indicated that the

         10  15 VIPOR  --  I'm assuming they're referring to the

         11  VIPOR locations -  installed by the Housing

         12  Authority, well, they say it's been successful.  It

         13  also has been extremely costly in terms of both

         14  equipment and on- site monitoring by the Police

         15  Department.  And as a result, the Housing Authority

         16  has proposed to install, as an alternative, a system

         17  of cameras that would be linked to digital video

         18  recorders, DVRs.  Are you aware of this proposal by

         19  the Housing Authority?

         20                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I'm not

         21  personally aware of it.  Is that referring to the

         22  small scale systems that they're --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Large scale.

         24  Fifteen large scale CCD systems.  So I was assuming

         25  they're talking about the 15 VIPORS.
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes.  That's

          3    --  I'm assuming also  --  that's the VIPOR bases

          4  they're talking about. Those are already previously

          5  installed.  We made mention of them earlier.  I'm

          6  not sure what you're referring to  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: It sounds

          8  like they're looking to get away from this system

          9  because of the cost in terms of equipment, and the

         10  on- site monitoring.  That's  --  I'm just reading

         11  from an annual plan for Fiscal Year 2005, from

         12  NYCHA.

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I haven't

         14  been privy to that NYCHA document of --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So are we

         16  assuming that VIPOR is not going to get larger than

         17  the 15 units?  And then may actually be  --  they're

         18  suggesting they be replaced by a system of DVRs.

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I guess

         20  that's a viable option.  It's news to me, though.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Would you

         22  have a position on that, as to keeping the VIPORS as

         23  opposed to using DVRs?  I mean, I don't know the

         24  technology, you do.

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Probably not
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          2  as of right now, till I've thought about it a little

          3  bit further, but it's certainly kind of a curve ball

          4  to me.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I'm sorry.

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's kind of

          7  a curve ball to me.  It's the first I've heard of

          8  it.  I really don't know.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Well, it's

         10  the NYCHA Annual Fiscal Plan for 2005.

         11                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Actually, I

         12  don't know if it's  --  good point.  That may be

         13  referring to some of the older systems with the

         14  analog, or the VCR, the super VHS.  That might be

         15  referring to replacing those with digital video

         16  recorders, bringing them all up to digital.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I understood,

         18  because it said 15 large scale CCTV systems, I'm

         19  assuming they're talking about VIPORS.  I don't know

         20    --

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Yes, it most

         22  likely is. It's probably their way of saying they'd

         23  like to upgrade the original analog systems to

         24  digital, to make them all the digital system.  All

         25  those 15 VIPOR bases to be digital, rather than
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          2  analog.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Oh, VIPORs

          4  are now analog?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: The first

          6  ones that were installed, that was the technology

          7  that was available.  And so, the first, I believe it

          8  was nine, were analog.  They were VHS tape based.

          9  The last six, when DVRs became viable, were

         10  installed with DVRs.  So there has actually been

         11  discussion about whether or not we can go back and

         12  retrofit the old systems to now accomplish the same

         13  thing through DVRs.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And that's a

         15  less costly system, in terms of monitoring and

         16  equipment?

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's less

         18  tape.  They actually last longer, those parts, to

         19  wear out.  So probably in the long term, it would

         20  make sense.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Because

         22  that's what they're citing as their problem, the

         23  cost of equipment and monitoring.

         24                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: That could

         25  very well be true.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: You might

          3  want to just take a look at that, just to see what

          4  they're referring to.  It's the annual fiscal plan

          5  for 2005, NYCHA.

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I will.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Page 29, I

          8  believe.

          9                 I'm just curious.  There was also

         10  another report that's listed here in our briefing,

         11  and I just wanted to know if you knew about it, and

         12  had a comment.  It's a British report, in 2002,

         13  found that 14 British cities that utilize the CCTV

         14  system, that the cameras had no effect on six of

         15  those 14 cities.  And that while six of those cities

         16  reported decreasing crime, two reported an increase.

         17    Are you familiar with that British study?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: No, I'm not.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Has there

         20  been any similar studies?  I know you said there's

         21  been a decrease.  Has there been any study that

         22  would show differently in the City of New York?

         23                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Not to my

         24  knowledge.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Not to your
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          2  knowledge.  But these British reports seem to cast

          3  some doubt as to the efficacy of CCTV or monitoring

          4  systems.

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Well, I

          6  can't really speak as to what their study was.  I

          7  don't really know a lot about it. I do know our

          8  involvement with NYCHA and the impact that the

          9  VIPORS have had upon those locations.  And it's been

         10  extremely positive. They become very, very desirable

         11  places for people to move.  And the people that

         12  don't have the VIPORS actually view them as quite

         13  favorably.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So that

         15  there's been no situation in New York City where

         16  upon the installation of video cameras, not only in

         17  NYCHA buildings, but anywhere, upon the installation

         18  of video cameras, or monitoring, that you've seen no

         19  change in crime, or worse yet, and increase.  You've

         20  not seen a situation like that.

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Not that I'm

         22  aware of, no.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Okay.  Thank

         24  you Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you
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          2  Council Member. We've been joined by Council Member

          3  Garodnick also.

          4                 Inspector, the City Council made a

          5  proposal, I don't believe we're part of it, but it's

          6  being discussed today to have bars put cameras

          7  outside their locations.  Do you have any opinion on

          8  that?  Would that be helpful to the NYPD in any way?

          9                      MS. PETITO: Mr. Chairman, I'd

         10  like to speak to that.  Yes, we think that cameras

         11  are a great idea in front of bars.  Again, there are

         12  lots of issues attached to that, including the

         13  impact on the economy in the bars themselves.  But

         14  as a general proposition, we support the use of

         15  cameras.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Now again, you

         17  said there's a couple dozen cameras in the City now

         18  with 505 coming through a federal grant.  The Ring

         19  of Steel itself, how many cameras do you envision,

         20  approximately, that involving?

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Like I said

         22  before, it really in its infancy.  It's not like I

         23  don't want to give you numbers, I really can't.

         24  They really haven't decided exactly how large of a

         25  scope, what size area is this going to be, and what
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          2  would it really entail.  As soon as we define

          3  exactly what we're looking to do for the assets, we

          4  can more closely define the number.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well when do you

          6  envision the final decisions being made on the Ring

          7  of Steel, and it being implemented?

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: It's made a

          9  little higher level decision than me, but I know

         10  they're very anxious to move forward with it.  So I

         11  would assume very soon.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: My information

         13  is very soon also.  So I would assume that the

         14  person in charge of placing the cameras would have

         15  some idea about the amount of cameras that are going

         16  to be placed in the Ring of Steel.  Is it going to

         17  be ten, is it going to be 10,000.  Do we have some

         18  sort of idea?

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: I think it

         20  will be less than 10,000, certainly, because I don't

         21  know if we'd have enough real estate to do that, but

         22  it is certainly going to be a large number.  Like I

         23  say, I'm not trying to be coy with you.  I really

         24  don't know exactly.  It would not surprise me to be

         25  literally hundreds if not more.  But I really don't
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          2  know specifically.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And what sort of

          4  area will that encompass?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Lower

          6  Manhattan.  Like I said, I don't know if that's been

          7  defined exactly where we're going to draw that line,

          8  so that's kind of, like I said, the scope, once it

          9  becomes more clear, we certainly can define a lot

         10  more closely, what we think we'd have to do.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, obviously,

         12  we'd like you to keep us updated as to the progress

         13  of that.  And I, I'm not speaking for the entire

         14  Council, I don't know what their opinion is, but I

         15  would like to see that happen as soon as possible.

         16                 You know, with most of the examples

         17  I've stated earlier about how successful cameras

         18  have been, have been private cameras.  The Officer

         19  Hernandez situation, the situation of the NYU

         20  student.  Have the NYPD cameras been successful in

         21  any instances that you would like to tell us about,

         22  the ones in Washington Square Park, or Fordham Road,

         23  or anything like that.  How successful have they

         24  been?  Are there any instances you can tell us

         25  about?
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Anecdotal, I

          3  couldn't give you a specific incident, but I do know

          4  that the Commanders in the areas that cover

          5  Washington Square Park and Fordham have successfully

          6  utilized them for their enforcement in the area.

          7  And they actually have made arrests, and it has made

          8  a difference overall in the quality of life in those

          9  areas.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, well, as

         11  you know, there's a good deal of information we'll

         12  be following up on with you.  And as you've always

         13  been cooperative in terms of getting this

         14  information, so I don't foresee any problems now.  I

         15  wish you would have had a little bit more today, but

         16  I'm sure you'll be giving it to us.  The

         17  information, I mean.

         18                 I thank you for your testimony.  I

         19  look forward to working with you.  As I said, these

         20  cameras, in my opinion, can't happen soon enough.

         21  But the next panel will, I assume, will be

         22  disagreeing with me.

         23                 And the next panel will consist of

         24  Robert Perry and Donna Liebermann, from the New York

         25  City Liberties Union.  Thank you.
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR HURLEY: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome Mr.

          4  Perry, Mr. Liebermann.  Thank you for coming down

          5  this morning.  I did reach out to Mr. Dunn a while

          6  ago, and had asked for some questions previous to

          7  the hearing to perhaps hit the Police Department

          8  with. And I know you've been busy with a lot of

          9  other topics.  But I don't know if you were aware of

         10  that.  But I did reach out to try and get some

         11  questions from you to ask the Police Department,

         12  because you always come up with good questions, and

         13  it's too late. So hopefully, in the future, just

         14  feel free to provide us some questions that you'd

         15  like us to ask.  And now, the floor is yours.

         16                 MS. LIEBERMANN: Okay.  Bob is going

         17  to start.

         18                 MR. PERRY: Good morning Mr. Chairman.

         19    My name is Robert Perry.  I'm the Legislative

         20  Director with the New York Civil Liberties Union.

         21  Members of the Committee.

         22                 Following up on your comment, I'd

         23  like to observe at the outset, make a few comments

         24  regarding PROSAS (phonetic).  We have not seen or

         25  been able to obtain the Department's proposal that
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          2  we have been asked to respond to this morning.  And

          3  based on the Chairman's questions, it's clear you

          4  have not either.  And that this is clearly a drawing

          5  board proposal with many questions unasked, and

          6  unanswered.  The closing comments of the Inspector

          7  suggested that this program will be implemented very

          8  soon.  So the notice problem I think, is significant

          9  given the lack of information we've got about the

         10  program at this point.

         11                 We did receive notice of the hearing

         12  about a week ago, inviting us to give testimony on

         13  Intro. 49, which would require shopping centers to

         14  install surveillance cameras in their parking lots.

         15  But this notice did not indicate it would be a

         16  discussion of NYPD Ring of Steel proposal.  We

         17  learned about that on Friday, two business days ago.

         18                 The issue is, of course, one of great

         19  significance, both for New Yorker's public safety,

         20  and for the constitutional rights of privacy

         21  association.  And due process.  That said, it's not

         22  possible, under these circumstances, for the NYCLU

         23  to provide a fully informed analysis of the

         24  Department's proposed surveillance program.

         25                 We believe, and we would hope that
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          2  following this hearing, there should be publication

          3  of the Department's video surveillance program,

          4  including the rules that were referred to by

          5  Inspector Hurley.  And subsequently, that the

          6  Committee would hold additional hearings, with ample

          7  advance notice.

          8                 We would also suggest that

          9  invitations to testify should be extended to

         10  policing and surveillance experts outside the

         11  Department, and outside the City.

         12                 So that said, we will make some

         13  general observations we've made at prior hearings

         14  before the Committee and before the Council on the

         15  use of cameras.  Along with some questions that we

         16  would hope that would be addressed in subsequent

         17  hearings, and also, we hope, in legislation.

         18                 Cameras are seen as a magic bullet in

         19  fighting crime and terrorism.  While surveillance

         20  records may assist in criminal investigations, as

         21  you noted, after the fact, it is highly questionable

         22  whether video surveillance actually prevents or

         23  deters crime.  Several speakers have talked about a

         24  comprehensive British study which was published in

         25  2002.  That study found that the presence of closed
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          2  circuit television surveillance had little or no

          3  effect on crime in public transportation or city

          4  centers, and had no effect on violent crime.  The

          5  researchers in that study examined 22 controlled and

          6  peer- reviewed scientific investigations that

          7  analyzed the use of surveillance cameras in British

          8  and North American cities.  Of the five studies

          9  conducted in American cities, including two in New

         10  York City, not one found a reduction in crime

         11  attributable to video surveillance.

         12                 Now, earlier in the back and forth,

         13  there was discussion about crime prevention and

         14  crime deterrence.  And in that discussion, Inspector

         15  Hurley spoke about, for example, in the incidence of

         16  arrests in some high- crime areas in Brooklyn, that

         17  it was a result of direct observation and other

         18  police actions, in conjunction with cameras that led

         19  to the arrests.  In the discussion, Council Member

         20  Avella made, regarding the shopping centers, these

         21  are cameras in shopping centers, he talked about

         22  large geographic areas that are not well lit.  What

         23  some of these studies indicate that there are many

         24  police actions aside from cameras that are

         25  responsible for preventing and deterring crime. And
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          2  those need to be considered in any analysis of

          3  further use of cameras.

          4                 An analysis of such data  --  well

          5  let me go back a step.  The other point that was

          6  raised in this discussion, is that there's been very

          7  little analysis or investigation of some of the

          8  empirical data.  Few jurisdictions are actually

          9  using data to measure the effectiveness of video

         10  surveillance systems.  So how can we assess the cost

         11  of surveillance technology, the potential

         12  infringement on individual privacy rights, without

         13  knowing whether surveillance cameras are effective?

         14                 An analysis of this data might show

         15  that the City's investment in surveillance

         16  technology could divert attention and resources from

         17  more effective crime fighting strategies.  The NYPD

         18  proposal involves the monitoring of hundreds of

         19  surveillance cameras that capture many thousands of

         20  hours of video or digital images each week.  This

         21  raises some questions.  How many hours of police

         22  work will be required for these tasks?  How many

         23  police hours will be spent monitoring surveillance

         24  programs and cameras as opposed to more effective

         25  investigation and intelligence gathering activities?
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          2                 Now Chairman Vallone, I would like to

          3  call your attention to an exchange we had  --

          4  actually, I think it was in writing  --  over your

          5  camera surveillance program.  That bill moved very

          6  quickly through the Council.  When I went back and

          7  examined   --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: In schools?

          9                 MR. PERRY: In schools.  I'm sorry.

         10  This is the school cameral program.  When we went

         11  back and looked at the testimony that was presented,

         12  including testimony from the Department, the

         13  Department representative actually questioned

         14  whether cameras were the best allocation of

         15  resources for preventing crime in schools.  He

         16  actually talked about personnel, training, other

         17  types of supervision, aside from police personnel.

         18  So there were many questions of that nature, I

         19  think, that often get left out of the mix when we

         20  are talking about the use of surveillance cameras.

         21                 You also raised concerns, and we

         22  appreciate that, about the use of privacy

         23  associational rights.  I think those concerns are

         24  real and well founded.  In the relatively short

         25  history of the NYPD's use of video surveillance,
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          2  there are several examples of gross misconduct that

          3  have compromised New Yorker's constitutional rights.

          4    With the massive expansion that's being proposed,

          5  we think those rights are particularly vulnerable.

          6                 In August, 2004, for example, this

          7  was alluded to earlier, a Police Department tape of

          8  a suicide at the Morris Housing Project in the Bronx

          9  subsequently appeared on an Internet pornography

         10  site.  During the RNC, the Republican National

         11  Convention, police officials were observing a

         12  demonstration from an NYPD helicopter equipped with

         13  an infrared camera.  However, the operator of the

         14  police camera became interested in a couple kissing

         15  on an apartment roof top, and began video taping the

         16  scene.  The NYPD peeping tom could not seem to keep

         17  his eyes and camera off the couple. The tape shows

         18  that his viewfinder repeatedly returned to the

         19  couple, whose video taped conduct remains in Police

         20  Department files, or it did for some time.  Whether

         21  it's still there or not, I think nobody knows.

         22                 So those are some of the concerns.  I

         23  think we'd like now to address at least some of the

         24  questions that should be thought about in terms of

         25  the legislation and regulatory oversight.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just before you

          3  begin, regarding the school cameras.  Obviously, I

          4  remember that exchange. And at no point did they say

          5  that the cameras were not helpful. But at the point

          6  of that hearing, first of all, the Administration

          7  did not yet  --  we hadn't had the negotiations  --

          8  did not yet support my bill.  And what they said was

          9  that cameras are a very important part of security

         10  process.  However, because of the huge cost that

         11  they weren't positive that that money should be

         12  spent there as opposed to just hiring more security

         13  officers or other security components of that plan.

         14  They did, obviously, come around and support the

         15  bill, and support cameras.  But I've never, never

         16  heard a security expert or anyone from the NYPD

         17  testify at these hearings that security cameras were

         18  not helpful in both deterring crime where we

         19  apparently disagree, and both and apprehending

         20  culprits, where I don't think we disagree.  Ms.

         21  Liebermann.

         22                 MS. LIEBERMANN. Yes.  I think one

         23  fact remains fairly clear, however.  That there is

         24  no evaluation going on. There's been no evaluation

         25  of the program in the schools.  And so we don't
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          2  really know what the impact of these cameras is on

          3  making the schools safer.

          4                 And just to follow up on the last

          5  point that was under discussion.  The two highly

          6  publicized incidents that were eluded to, the

          7  suicide in the housing project, and the video taping

          8  of a couple in a romantic moment by the probably

          9  most sophisticated surveillance technology that we

         10  have, during the Republican National Convention.  It

         11  should be shocking, and entirely unacceptable to the

         12  Council.  It certainly is from the public's

         13  perspective that the Police Department officials who

         14  were here, don't have a clue what happened in

         15  response to those well documented incidents of

         16  abuse.  Have the rules changed?  Have people been

         17  held accountable?  Was there a process?  What was

         18  it? Or is this simply a problem that was swept under

         19  the rug?  If the Housing Authority is going to be

         20  moving to more sophisticated use of technology,

         21  digital recordings rather than mere videos, so that

         22  they're more efficient and more permanent, what

         23  indeed is in place to protect you and me from abuse?

         24    And to hold people who are in positions of

         25  official responsibility accountable for that?
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          2                 I just want to  --  and we've heard

          3  nothing.  We've heard nothing.  I also want to

          4  comment in terms of the numbers. The Deputy

          5  Inspector who testified before said that the Police

          6  Department only has a couple of dozen cameras around

          7  the City. Well, unfortunately, I didn't come with

          8  the numbers from the NYCLU survey, but if the Police

          9  Department only has a couple of dozen cameras, well,

         10  what about the Housing Authority cameras?  What

         11  about the subway cameras?  And what about even the

         12  traffic cameras that have been installed with much

         13  fanfare?  It's interesting that the Police

         14  Department talks about the importance of

         15  surveillance by referring to the cameras all through

         16  the system, and when it comes to responsibility and

         17  accountability for what's in place, they have

         18  nothing to say, or precious little.

         19                 The City Council has a responsibility

         20  to make sure that as we move towards more and more

         21  and more video surveillance in the City, that there

         22  are guidelines in place, and that the City, as an

         23  entity, doesn't ignore that fact that there are very

         24  substantial privacy interests at stake here.

         25                 Among the questions, some of which
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          2  you've asked, and some of which you haven't, that

          3  need to be addressed by the Council, and by the

          4  Police Department, as it moves forward with its so-

          5  called Ring of Steel are:  What are the rules

          6  regarding access to Police Department surveillance

          7  tapes?  How is the NYPD planning to prevent

          8  unauthorized access to surveillance images by Police

          9  Department employees, by other government agencies,

         10  or by members of the general public?  One thing that

         11  we know in the era of technology is once the Police

         12  Department gets something and lets it go, it is out

         13  of its control in terms  --  you can never get it

         14  back.  We know that with the Internet.  We know that

         15  with digital information.  You can't destroy it.

         16                 What rules are in place regarding the

         17  retention of video surveillance records?  Or would

         18  be in place?  How long will they be retained?

         19  What's the protocol for archiving and destroying

         20  NYPD surveillance records?  And what kind of public

         21  access to this information will there be?

         22                 One issue that has not been discussed

         23  a whole lot this morning is training.  What training

         24  do the police officers get with regard to the lawful

         25  and appropriate use of surveillance cameras?  And
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          2  what are the costs associated with the installation

          3  of this video surveillance system?  As well as the

          4  costs of maintenance and staffing.

          5                 And finally, what safeguards are in

          6  place to prevent the improper or unlawful use of

          7  cameras by Police Department employees?  That's with

          8  regard to the Ring of Steel.  We think that this

          9  City Council has to enact legislation, and it has to

         10  do so, I think, promptly, but with serious  --

         11  after serious deliberation that calls in experts,

         12  that calls in people like the Civil Liberties Union

         13  and gives us a little bit of time to think about the

         14  response.  The Council needs to enact legislation

         15  that applies to every City agency and that protects

         16  New Yorkers' constitutional rights.

         17                 At minimum, we think that the

         18  legislation would have to provide that recordings

         19  are retained only for a short time, and are

         20  subsequently destroyed.  That access is strictly

         21  limited.  And made only available for legitimate law

         22  enforcement purposes.

         23                 You know, we had a little

         24  conversation about how long should video images be

         25  retained.  Well, you know, I don't know the answer
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          2  to that.  But I think there's a way to figure it

          3  out. If the purpose of doing this video surveillance

          4  is supposedly to fight crime, then there has to be

          5  an analysis that goes into, like how long typically

          6  do we wait before we find out about a crime? How

          7  much time elapses before the police get a report?

          8  Is it 36 hours?  Is it 24 hours?  Is it 72?  You

          9  know, if reports don't typically come in past 72

         10  hours, of criminal activity, well then there's no

         11  reason to hold on to the tapes.  But this isn't some

         12  answer that comes out of the sky?  You know, or

         13  somebody's gut instinct.  This is based on analysis

         14  and evaluation.  And the Police Department should

         15  have that information, and should be basing its

         16  conclusion on hard fact, not on conjecture.

         17                 Legislation should require the City

         18  to give public notice regarding the installation of

         19  surveillance cameras.  In Washington D.C. the Police

         20  Department made its regulations governing CCTV

         21  available for public comment, and held extensive

         22  hearings on how the system would operate, and

         23  received a lot of constructive feedback on that.

         24                 I think also, any legislation

         25  governing the use of surveillance cameras has to
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          2  provide for an independent auditing and evaluation

          3  system.  We're talking about spending millions of

          4  dollars.  And in any private business entity, it

          5  would never pass muster to spend millions of dollars

          6  on new technology without some sort of assessment of

          7  the value of the  --  a cost/benefit analysis of

          8  what's going on.  But beyond that, the City has an

          9  obligation and a concern for individual privacy.

         10  And has to require an assessment of what is the harm

         11  to our individual privacy, and what's the benefit,

         12  in terms of law enforcement.

         13                 Finally, and I think that one

         14  assumption cannot go undiscussed, which is the value

         15  of video surveillance in stopping crime.  You and

         16  your statement to the press, Councilman Vallone,

         17  alluded to the terrible murder in Harlem the other

         18  day.  And how video surveillance helped track down

         19  the people who have been accused of that terrible

         20  crime.  But let's not forget that video surveillance

         21  didn't stop that murder from happening.  Imagine,

         22  had there been a cop or two on the street corner.

         23  Maybe that could have done it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It stopped the

         25  next ten that these thugs would have done if they
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          2  had not been caught.  And that's how it deters crime

          3  also.

          4                 MS. LIEBERMANN: I understand that

          5  point.  I just want to  --  I think the point must

          6  be acknowledged that video cameras can capture what

          7  happened.  They can't come to the aid of somebody in

          8  trouble.  They can't step in to stop crime.  And

          9  that is a very, very, very significant shortcoming.

         10  And it certainly undermines the  --  when we talk

         11  about the efficacy of video surveillance, and how we

         12  weigh that in terms of the impact on our individual

         13  rights, we have to recognize, yes, it helps us solve

         14  crimes, but does it help us deter them?  And that's

         15  a real question.

         16                 And finally, we've had this

         17  conversation before. There is one area where I think

         18  we definitely do need video surveillance.  And

         19  that's in the Police interrogation room.  You're an

         20  advocate of video surveillance as a law enforcement

         21  tool, even though there are many limitations on its

         22  efficacy as a crime prevention weapon.  But the

         23  effectiveness of video taping of police

         24  interrogations is not in question.  According to a

         25  recent survey of more than 200 law enforcement
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          2  agencies in 39 states, officials almost uniformly

          3  report that recording interrogations saved time and

          4  money, created reliable evidence, and established

          5  whether confessions were voluntary.  And helped to

          6  resolve allegations of police misconduct.  It is a

          7  win/win/win/win situation.  But the New York Police

          8  Department has resisted it, and it's not exactly

          9  clear why.  I hope that you will demonstrate

         10  leadership on this issue by enacting legislation

         11  that would require video taping of interrogations

         12  that go on when somebody is in police custody.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         14  That's not really the purpose of this hearing, but I

         15  agree with you completely about the effectiveness of

         16  video taping statements, as a former persecutor, in

         17  my case, a ground ball, when I had one.  I hoped

         18  they would be done in every case.  You know my

         19  objection to making it a law, and we'll discuss that

         20  down the road.  We may actually have a hearing on

         21  that one day.  But it's not  --  I agree about their

         22  effectiveness.

         23                 You mentioned  --  I actually agree

         24  with a lot of what you said regarding guidelines and

         25  things like that.  You documented two abuses which
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          2  these video cameras which exist now, and I agree

          3  with you, that's troubling.  But there are also

          4  documented police brutality abuses, and we need a

          5  police force, because the benefits outweigh the

          6  potential for harm.  And I believe the benefits of

          7  cameras outweigh the potential for harm. We may

          8  disagree about that, but what we do need is

          9  guidelines.  And I didn't hear them today.  You know

         10  I will be asking for them.  I should be getting

         11  them.  And to whatever extent I'm allowed to, and I

         12  normally am, I'll be sharing with you, and asking

         13  for your comments on what changes we think need to

         14  be made.  And if they don't make comments to changes

         15  that we agree on, then perhaps we actually need

         16  legislation here, like they did in Washington D.C.

         17  I'm not adverse to that by any stretch.  We need to

         18  make sure that this is done the right way.  And

         19  again, we didn't hear that today. But I don't want

         20  to defend them, but I guess he's the guy who puts up

         21  the cameras as opposed to  --  they should have sent

         22  more people that actually have the answers, but the

         23  guy who puts up the cameras apparently doesn't know

         24  what rules go behind putting out the cameras, I

         25  don't know.
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          2                 MS. LIEBERMANN: Well, I think that

          3  the Police Department was here today, and who they

          4  chose to send and with what information is quite

          5  revealing of the Police Department's attitude

          6  towards its obligation to come clean with the

          7  public, to be accountable for what's going on in its

          8  move towards what we would call a surveillance

          9  society.  The public has a right to know.

         10                 And you know, one of the arguments

         11  that's made about video surveillance is that as a

         12  deterrent to crime, is that well, if people know

         13  that they're being taped.  They're likely to not

         14  commit crimes.  I think that's a questionable

         15  assumption, but there's been no conversation about

         16  maintaining a central log of where the surveillance

         17  is going on.  The Police Department doesn't know

         18  what's going on with housing, or with the MTA.  We

         19  need a public record of what the government

         20  surveillance.  It would probably shock us all, but

         21  it would also enable the public to know, and the

         22  government to know what is going on, and to figure

         23  out how to do the evaluation.  The evaluation is

         24  key.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I don't
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          2  disagree.  And I was actually surprised to learn we

          3  only had dozens outside of housing, outside of MTA.

          4  The NYPD apparently only has dozens of cameras.

          5                 You know, regarding what exists now.

          6  Other than what we discussed, those two instances,

          7  have you run across abuses of any widespread abuses

          8  that there's some people's privacy being violated?

          9                 MS. LIEBERMANN: Of course, there's

         10  the hand- shoot context.  Where the  --  if you go

         11  to a demonstration in New York City, you

         12  automatically have a police file.  And Mr. Doepfner

         13  talked about the terror unit, which many people, by

         14  the way, think is an anti- terrorism unit rather

         15  than the technical assistance response unit that it

         16  is, because since September 11th, TARU is at every

         17  demonstration, no matter how tiny.  And often, there

         18  have been incidences where TARU out- numbers the

         19  protesters.  They say that they're on hand to

         20  capture on video in case there's a criminal activity

         21  that occurs.  But the assumption that political

         22  protests is necessarily a locust of criminal

         23  activity is really a faulty one, and one that has a

         24  terrible chilling affect on the right to protest.

         25  So that's an example of widespread abuse, both in
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          2  terms of the almost obsessive- compulsive capturing

          3  of political activity on video tape, and the

          4  insistence by the Department that it has the right

          5  to retain, as a police file, of everybody who goes

          6  to a political demonstration.  And that issue is now

          7  in litigation in federal court.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think they

          9  completely disagree.  They need to do everything

         10  they can to both protect us, or protect themselves

         11  from unfounded allegations of abuse. And the way

         12  they do that is cameras.  And they've been hugely

         13  successful, and they're successful from the

         14  protesters standpoint too.  I've never seen more

         15  cameras in my life than there were every block at

         16  the Republican National Convention.  It was hugely

         17  helpful.  Both to find out who did things wrong, and

         18  to clear the innocent.  So the more cameras, the

         19  better when it comes to demonstrations.  And I know

         20  we disagree on that, but you can't argue it.  Once

         21  you have the stuff on film, you can't argue with

         22  what the police officer did and what the protester

         23  did.  Both clearing the innocent and finding the

         24  guilty.  And if the protesters are going to have

         25  them, the police have to have them.  It's only fair.
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          2

          3                 Let me move on.

          4                 MS. LIEBERMANN: Sure

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You made the

          6  argument that it doesn't deter crime or prevent

          7  crime.  I mean, I completely disagree, as you know

          8  from the op ed.  I mean, we hear it on a daily

          9  basis.  I just heard some major radio station just

         10  last week was playing a town, I believe it was Mt.

         11  Vernon, which had a huge crime and drug problem on

         12  the street, and they installed cameras. In fact,

         13  these cameras can be monitored by the local

         14  populations, by going onto a website, which has

         15  completely cleared the crime off the street.

         16                 In addition, every time perpetrators

         17  are caught, in Florida, with the child molester.

         18  Here with the people who are charged with killing

         19  NYU student.  Those people cannot commit future

         20  crimes.  So I don't even think there's any argument

         21  that they both deter and prevent crime, but I think

         22  we do agree they help solve crimes.  And if that was

         23  the only reason to have cameras, I'd still be in

         24  favor of them, to help solve the crimes that

         25  happened.  I'm not going to change my mind on that
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          2   --

          3                 MR. PERRY: Can I follow up on your

          4  comment?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sure.

          6                 MR. PERRY: Inspector Hurley's

          7  testimony actually cited the home office research

          8  study that indicated that there really is no clear

          9  empirical findings that support the proposition that

         10  cameras actually prevent or deter crime.  Now the

         11  problem is here, you're a true believer.  The

         12  Department are true believers. And it's you talking

         13  to each other, except for the NYCLU, which becomes

         14  the sole voice of opposition.  Now we're civil

         15  rights  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: -- Every

         17  initiative that they've ever tried to install.

         18                 MR. PERRY: I beg your pardon?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You've opposed

         20  bag searches, expanding the DNA database, wire

         21  tapping, these surveillance cameras of protesters.

         22  There hasn't been one initiative to combat terrorism

         23  that you have not opposed.  --

         24                 MR. PERRY: In fact, that's not

         25  correct.  What we have opposed is absolute
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          2  unregulated use of those types of interventions.

          3  Because of the abuses that are well documented

          4  historically, and even to the present day.  The

          5  problem  --  the reason we cited two examples today

          6  is, we don't control the video tapes.  The

          7  Department does.  But let me just complete my

          8  thought if I could.

          9                 We are civil rights and civil

         10  liberties lawyers. There's an army of scientists,

         11  academics, researches who actually study this.  The

         12  authors of the home office study have enormous

         13  amounts of information and first- hand experience.

         14  The reason I suggested we need further hearings is

         15  that we need to hear from the people who do this

         16  work, aside from the Department professionals, and

         17  from the Committee members.

         18                 And as further illustration, I pulled

         19  out my summary of the NYPD's testimony before the

         20  Council regarding cameras in schools.  What the NYPD

         21  official said was, in questioning the use of

         22  cameras, that he would have preferred instead of

         23  cameras, that better radio systems, youth

         24  development, staff training, in place of cameras.

         25  The reason being, it would have cost $750,000 a year
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          2  to install cameras in ten schools, ten percent of

          3  that would have been required going forward to

          4  maintain them.  That's for ten schools.  His

          5  question was, there may be a more cost effective way

          6  to protect the public safety in schools.  That's the

          7  issue.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  If that were to

          9  put 20 more security officers in schools, you would

         10  oppose it.  So it wouldn't matter.  We'd still be

         11  hearing  --  you'd still be opposing whatever way

         12  they came up with to increase security in our

         13  schools.

         14                 MS. LIEBERMANN: You know, it's  --

         15  that's not true. And the   --  yes, we do think that

         16  when there are security officers in schools, whether

         17  it's police or whether there are more teachers in

         18  schools that we have to respect the thing that's

         19  going to make the difference.  But the New York

         20  Civil Liberty Union position on surveillance and on

         21  searches is really quite simple. We want this to

         22  happen consistent with the constitution, and

         23  consistent with individual privacy rights.  Now it's

         24  different when you search somebody than when you

         25  take a picture of them when they're out in public.
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          2  Absolutely.  When you search somebody who's walking

          3  on the street, or going into the subway, the Civil

          4  Liberties Union says, fine.  Do it.  But only do it

          5  if you have probable cause that they're engaged in

          6  criminal activity.  Don't do it just because they

          7  happen to be going in the subway, and you have some

          8  cockamamie idea that if people think they're going

          9  to be searched before they go in the subway, it's

         10  going to deter terrorism.  It's another assumption

         11  that just doesn't hold up when subject to real

         12  scrutiny.

         13                 When it comes to surveillance

         14  cameras, we've never said that we oppose all

         15  surveillance cameras.  Not at all.  What we do say,

         16  and what we have suggested, is that there has to be

         17  very, very clear guidelines.  And yes, the Council

         18  has to take a look, and we have to think about

         19  whether we want to be in a society that is all

         20  surveillance all the time.  I frankly don't like the

         21  idea that I can't walk from 72nd Street to 42nd

         22  Street in New York City and beyond, without every

         23  step that I take being captured on video tape.  It

         24  may be nice, you know, for a middle- aged person

         25  like me, who doesn't remember where I was yesterday
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          2  to know that I could go to the NYPD and find out

          3  where I was.  But all kidding aside, it's not at all

          4  comforting to know that I have a police file because

          5  I walk on the streets of New York.  And the Police

          6  Department insists that it can retain it forever,

          7  and ever, and ever.

          8                 So I think we do have a problem

          9  becoming a surveillance society, and the Council has

         10  an obligation to keep that in check.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We agree with

         12  the fact that nothing, I think you both said, should

         13  be unregulated, unfettered. And I want to work with

         14  you to guidelines, to get some guidelines here.  I'm

         15  not going to continue the other argument, because I

         16  could go on for a while.  Council Member Garodnick.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you

         18  Mr. Chairman.

         19                 Welcome to both of you.  And I just

         20  wanted to introduce myself, first of all, as a new

         21  member of the Public Safety Committee and a new

         22  member of the Council.

         23                 I just wanted to really make a

         24  comment, more than anything.  The first is that

         25  security cameras serve a real law enforcement
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          2  purpose, whether it's  --  and we may disagree on

          3  whether it is a deterrence, or whether it just has

          4  the effect of just capturing somebody who has

          5  committed a crime, after the fact. But I wanted to

          6  just  --  I wanted to agree with your points about

          7  how we in the Council have a real responsibility

          8  here to ensure that when you have privacy interests

          9  at stake, to ensure that there are real guidelines

         10  in place.  And those guidelines are not just limited

         11  to who has access to the tapes, although I think

         12  that's incredibly important.  Especially when you

         13  consider the examples that you gave at the beginning

         14  of your testimony.  But also the length of time that

         15  the tapes can be retained.  There are circumstances

         16  in which there really cannot be any explanation for

         17  a permanent retention of tapes.  Training to ensure

         18  that those folks who are charged with the

         19  responsibility of either taking photographs or

         20  maintaining them, that they know precisely what

         21  these guidelines are.  And then, of course, I also

         22  agree on the notion of public notice of where and

         23  when, and what the circumstances are for the

         24  installation of cameras.

         25                 But one point that I wanted to get
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          2  some clarification from you all on was, it sounds to

          3  me that with strict guidelines, you do not object to

          4  the idea of cameras in public places.  Is that an

          5  accurate statement?

          6                 MS. LIEBERMANN: Yes.  We don't object

          7  to cameras being in public places.  We do object to

          8  creating a situation where you can't walk outside

          9  without it being captured on video tape.  So I think

         10  that while I'm not prepared to say what the cutoff

         11  is, whether it's 23, 100, or 6,000.  We seem to be

         12  on a course of turning our City into a place where

         13  there's a camera on every street corner.  And a

         14  camera in  --  and several cameras in every subway

         15  station.  I think that's a dangerous course for us

         16  to be on. I think that the use of video surveillance

         17  should be measured.  It should be measured to  --

         18  so that it's efficacious, and so that we don't

         19  transform ourselves into a surveillance society.

         20                 So I'm sorry I can't give you a clear

         21  standard for what should be, but I think it's

         22  something that we do, in fact, have to take into

         23  consideration.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Well, I

         25  agree with that, and that is obviously the great
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          2  challenge here.  And I don't claim to know the

          3  answer to that question myself, where you want to

          4  balance the need to serve the legitimate law

          5  enforcement function, but also protect you and me

          6  from the feeling that we live under constant

          7  surveillance here in New York City.  And that is the

          8  balance which we need to explore, I think.

          9                 MS. LIEBERMANN: Right.  I think one

         10  way to safeguard our vision of an anonymous society,

         11  as a democracy, is to engage in a very, very careful

         12  and thoughtful analysis before we move forward with

         13  500 new cameras around a particular section of the

         14  City.  Or the Ring of Steel.  And demand a very,

         15  very clear analysis of like what the anticipated

         16  value is, given the projected impact on our privacy.

         17    And I'm not frankly quite sure that that's going

         18  on.  I hear that there's you know, Homeland Security

         19  money for cameras. You know, that will cover 500.

         20  Let's buy 500.  And it's kind of a situation where

         21  it's you know, ready, shoot, aim.  The harm is not

         22  as great as if we were dealing with real weapons,

         23  but I think the more subtle harm to our ability to

         24  go about our business anonymously, if we're not

         25  doing anything wrong, does, in fact, suffer in the
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          2  long run.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: You made

          4  one comment that I don't know if it was intended to

          5  be a meaningful comment, but when you said that you

          6  don't like the idea of a police file being created

          7  on you when you walk from 72nd to 42nd.  It's my

          8  understanding that that is not the circumstance

          9  which is  -- that's not what would happen.  It would

         10  be  --  there would be an image captured on a tape

         11  if cameras were installed in multiple corners in

         12  particular area.  But there is no specific file on

         13  you as a citizen.

         14                 MS. LIEBERMANN: Well, I think that

         15  right now, there's not a specific, and

         16  individualized police file.  But with the

         17  technological advances in digital recognition,

         18  facial recognition, it's quite conceivable that the

         19  political surveillance tapes would be transferred

         20  into individualized files.  Or accessible and

         21  accessed by the Police Department on an

         22  individualized basis.  That's not off the wall.  And

         23  the Police Department is clearly setting up whole

         24  new image capturing systems in conjunction with

         25  this.
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          2                 I think that  --  and you know, one

          3  of the issues that is being dealt with in the

          4  litigation in hand- shoot, is like if the Department

          5  is taking pictures of demonstrations, who is keeping

          6  them?  Who has access to it?  Is it a police matter?

          7    You know, they say that they need to hold this for

          8  litigation.  And I agree with Council Member

          9  Vallone.  This stuff is a definitely a double- edged

         10  sword.  We got 267 arrests dismissed based on not

         11  police videos, but private videos of the

         12  demonstration at Ground Zero.  And --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Are you

         14  including ACDs in those --

         15                 MS. LIEBERMANN: No.  Those were

         16  restored to the calendar and dismissed, even after

         17  they were once taken care of. Because the video

         18  tapes that we submitted to the  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Restored to the

         20  calendar as it pertains to a contemplated dismissal?

         21                 MS. LIEBERMANN: They were not ACD'd.

         22  They were  -- the 267 arrests were restored to the

         23  calendar.  Some of them had been disposed of by ACDs

         24  and other mechanisms, but the District Attorney had

         25  them restored to the calendar, and moved to dismiss
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          2  them, based on the video material that was provided.

          3    And their own independent investigation.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I do remember

          5  those.  That was order situation.

          6                 MS. LIEBERMANN: And now there's

          7  another issue with regard to the 16th demonstration

          8   --  the 16th Street demonstrations at the RNC,

          9  which involved hundreds of arrests, three or four

         10  hundred arrests, which are now also now vulnerable.

         11  So I'm mindful of the fact that technology is a

         12  double- edged sword. And it can help everybody,

         13  depending on the circumstances.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Well, I

         15  will leave it there by just saying that I  --  while

         16  I'm somebody who does appreciate the real law

         17  enforcement purpose for surveillance cameras, also

         18  think, and it sounds like other members of this

         19  Committee also agree, that when you increase the

         20  numbers, you also really need to increase the

         21  guidelines.  And to make sure that we are strict in

         22  what we are allowing out there.  Because when you're

         23  talking about adding cameras and capturing large

         24  scale amounts of information, which may or may not

         25  be specifically related to crime, real guidelines
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          2  are necessary.  And so, we will continue to focus on

          3  that as members of this Committee, and we appreciate

          4  your testimony.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

          6  Council Member.  As Council Member Garodnick

          7  mentioned, he is a new member of this Committee, and

          8  a valued member.  And in the short time he has

          9  already had substantial impact on our hearing.  So

         10  we welcome you again.

         11                 And as you mentioned, not only is not

         12  a file kept, but as far as the testimony goes, they

         13  don't even review these tapes.  Now again, that's

         14  the testimony.  That may be a guideline. And we have

         15  to ensure that's followed, and perhaps we do have to

         16  make a law to ensure that it's followed.  I think we

         17  all agree on that.

         18                 Any other Council Members have

         19  questions.  We were joined by Council Member

         20  Gennaro, who came straight from California,

         21  apparently.  Boy are his arms tired.  But no other

         22  questions?

         23                 All right.  Obviously, we have a lot

         24  of follow up information to get.  Which I want to

         25  work together with you on to come up with some
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          2  solutions.  I'm sorry you only got a week's notice

          3  or something on this, but it was a late- planned

          4  hearing, and it happens sometimes.  Sometimes we

          5  have other topics which witnesses won't show up for,

          6  and then we have to move hearings around.

          7                 But in the future, as I said, if

          8  there's any hearings that you see notice, or are

          9  invited to, and I think you're invited to just about

         10  every hearing we have, and you'd like to submit some

         11  questions to us prior to your testimony, so that we

         12  may ask the police about it, feel free.

         13                 MS. LIEBERMANN: Right.  And I want to

         14  thank you for the questions that you did ask of the

         15  Police Department.  I think it was  --  they

         16  elicited some important information or lack thereof.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.  I

         18  look forward to working with you.  I think at this

         19  point, we're going to adjourn this hearing.  Thank

         20  you all.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 12:05 p.m.)
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